**RECEIVED**

**Jan 05 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Probate Court

Amy W. McCulloch, Richland County Probate Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2020GC4000072  
Appellate Case Nos. 2022-001328 and 2022-001226

Jane E. Baskin .....Respondent,

v.

William B. Walkup .....Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Thornwell F. Sowell, III, SC Bar # 5197  
Bess J. DuRant, SC Bar # 77920  
SOWELL & DuRANT, LLC  
1325 Park Street, Suite 100  
Columbia, SC 29201  
T: 803.722.1100  
[bsowell@sowelldurant.com](mailto:bsowell@sowelldurant.com)  
[bdurant@sowelldurant.com](mailto:bdurant@sowelldurant.com)

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the probate court abuse its discretion in removing William Walkup as trustee over the trust created in the Will of Eldridge Baskin (“Settlor” or “Mr. Baskin”) “to provide for the well being of Jane E. Baskin so long as she shall live” when it failed to consider the applicable statutes and failed to honor the intent of the Settlor as expressed in the Will?
2. Did the probate court err in finding Walkup in contempt of a “Temporary Settlement Agreement” when he instituted a separate, unrelated legal action pursuant to his duties as Trustee?
3. Did the probate court err in awarding attorney’s fees and costs to Baskin as against Walkup?

## **INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

At the time of his death in 1990, Mr. Baskin sought to provide for his only child, Jane Baskin, for the remainder of her lifetime through a trust created by his Will. (Ex. 1, R. at \_\_\_\_). Baskin suffered and continues to suffer from cerebral palsy. (Tr. 30:21-31:1, R. at \_\_\_\_). As of the time of trial, Baskin was 76 years old, fully disabled, and in need of significant care, (Ex. 57, R. at \_\_\_\_), and, thus, Baskin's life expectancy was an additional 12.34 years. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 19-1-150.

Mr. Baskin trusted William Walkup, a cousin with experience managing money, to be the trustee. By all accounts, Walkup successfully invested the trust's assets. (Order at 13, ¶ 9-10; Tr. 722: 21-23, R. at \_\_\_\_). In addition, Baskin's counsel conceded that Mr. Walkup "is genuinely a good person." (Tr. 723:2-4, R. at \_\_\_\_).

The dispute in this matter arises from Baskin's wishes versus Walkup's efforts, within the discretion afforded to him by the Will, to make sure the trust lasts for the remainder of her lifetime. The probate court, sympathetic towards Baskin, failed to consider the Will as a whole and failed to apply the applicable statutory provisions in assessing whether removal was appropriate. This was an abuse of discretion requiring reversal.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Baskin filed this action in the Richland County Probate Court on July 20, 2020, seeking removal of Walkup as trustee and an accounting. (Complaint, R. at \_\_\_\_). The complaint did not include a demand for attorney's fees.

Walkup answered on August 26, 2020, asserting as defenses a general denial, failure to state a claim, and the prudent investor rule as codified in S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-933. (Answer, R. at \_\_\_\_). Walkup subsequently amended his answer twice and asserted a counterclaim for

attorney's fees and costs pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-1004. (Supplemental and/or Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim, R. at \_\_\_\_). The operative answer included as additional defenses the applicable statute of limitations, waiver, estoppel, and the undue influence of third parties. (*Id.*). Baskin denied the allegations of the counterclaim. (Reply, R. at \_\_\_\_).

After extensive discovery, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. (Motions, R. at \_\_\_\_). Baskin argued that Walkup failed to provide accountings as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-813, that her interests would be served by removal under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-706(b)(3), and that there had been "serious breaches of trust" requiring removal pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-706(b)(1). (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). Baskin further sought an award of attorney's fees to be paid by Walkup, individually.

Walkup's summary judgment motion first clarified that given the Settlor's death in 1990, § 62-7-813 does not apply by its express terms ("Subsections (b)(2) and (b)(3) of this section apply only to a trustee who accepts a trusteeship on or after the effective date of this article, to an irrevocable trust created on or after the effective date of this article, and to a revocable trust which becomes irrevocable on or after the effective date of this article."). (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). Walkup then argued there were no grounds for removal under §§ 62-7-706 and -813 given the language of the will, the lack of evidence of harm or misconduct, and the performance of the trust between 1990 and the present. Walkup further argued that this action was time-barred by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-802(b)(3) because the events complained of by Baskin should have been apparent in 2018 given correspondence between the parties and their counsel at that time. In addition, Walkup argued that the prudent investor rule of § 62-7-933 provided a complete defense because he acted at all times in reasonable reliance on the language of the Will. He also sought an award of attorney's fees.

The probate court denied both motions by order dated December 19, 2020. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). As to Baskin’s motion, the court found there was conflicting testimony and, thus, that there were genuine issues of material fact. The court found that § 62-7-813 did not apply, but refused to grant summary judgment in Walkup’s favor because Baskin had also claimed general breach under § 62-7-706. With respect to the limitations period, the court found there was a question of fact as to whether Baskin was on notice of a claim in 2018. The court further found there were questions of fact as to the prudent investor rule and whether there had been any acts giving rise to removal under § 62-7-706.

The matter then proceeded to trial on January 4-6, 2021. On the morning of January 6th, and before Walkup could present his full defense, the parties “agreed to a temporary suspension of the litigation in an effort to truly come to a resolution, although temporary in nature, today for the parties to attempt a new progress forward.” (Tr. 477:9-13, R. at \_\_\_\_). After expressly reserving the right to finish presenting his case, counsel for Walkup agreed. (Tr. 477:18-78:4, R. at \_\_\_\_). The probate court confirmed that his rights were reserved and counsel for Baskin agreed. (Tr. 478:5-9, 478:10-79:2, R. at \_\_\_\_). The trial was then suspended. (Tr. 479:3-80:7, R. at \_\_\_\_).

The parties entered a Temporary Settlement Agreement, which was filed with the probate court on January 6, 2021. (Agreement, R. at \_\_\_\_). Under the agreement, this case and the issue of attorney’s fees were both stayed. (*Id.* at ¶1, R. at \_\_\_\_). Walkup remained trustee “solely to continue to manage the money for investment purposes[.]” (*Id.* at ¶2, R. at \_\_\_\_). Alex Weatherly was appointed special trustee and was to receive \$6,425/month for distribution “as needed for the care of Ms. Baskin.” (*Id.* at ¶¶3-8, R. at \_\_\_\_). Baskin was to be moved into her home on February 1, 2021. (*Id.* at ¶9, R. at \_\_\_\_). Lastly, the parties agreed that this was a “temporary solution” and that they would provide the Court with a status update by July 16, 2021. (*Id.* at ¶10, R. at \_\_\_\_).

Baskin almost immediately sought attorney's fees. (Petition, R. at \_\_\_\_). In reliance on the stay, Walkup did not respond. Then, Baskin filed a motion seeking to amend the Temporary Settlement Agreement on July 20, 2021, asking for increased distributions. (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). Only later, after the probate court requested a proposed order granting the fees on July 27, 2021, did Walkup realize that the probate court and Baskin were both operating as if the Temporary Settlement Agreement was, in fact, a permanent agreement. (Memo in Opposition to Proposed Fee Order; Motion to Recuse, R. at \_\_\_\_).

On October 12, 2021, the probate court converted a status conference into an emergency hearing. An order followed on October 29, 2021. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). The court, outraged that Walkup wanted to present the rest of his evidence and did not want the temporary agreement to be permanent, and based on the court's apparent belief that the temporary arrangement was working well for Baskin, found that the Temporary Settlement Agreement "remains in effect and controlling in this case moving forward" absent a court order or further agreement by the parties. The probate court then rewrote the temporary agreement to increase the payments to Baskin. Lastly, the court set the trial to resume on December 21-22, 2021.

Concerned about the probate court's conduct and the appearance of partiality toward Baskin, Walkup moved to recuse on November 19, 2021. (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). The probate court stayed the resumed trial until the motion to recuse could be considered. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). The probate court denied the motion and set a date for trial to resume by order dated April 28, 2022. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_).

Before the trial resumed, Baskin filed a motion on June 30, 2022 seeking to hold Walkup in contempt or, in the alternative, to enforce "settlement" and for sanctions relating to an action filed by Walkup in Lexington County ("contempt motion"). (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). The trial

ultimately resumed on August 5, 2022. At the close of the evidence, Walkup presented a motion for dismissal and judgment and for a directed verdict. (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). The motion included many of the same arguments made at the summary judgment stage, including the inapplicability of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-813 given the date the trust became irrevocable, the lack of evidence showing cause for removal under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-706, the applicable statutes of limitations, and the prudent investor rule of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-933.

Following the trial, each party submitted petitions for attorney's fees. (Petitions, R. at \_\_\_\_). Prior to ruling on the merits, the probate court held an additional hearing on Baskin's contempt motion.

By order dated August 23, 2022, the probate court removed Walkup as trustee. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). The order includes an "analysis of testimony." This "analysis" includes extensive notes as to Baskin's witnesses and a very abbreviated summary as to Walkup's witnesses. (Compare Order pages 4-9 with Order pages 9-11, R. at \_\_\_\_). By way of example, the probate court includes only four sentences about the testimony of Anne Webster, Baskin's first cousin, who testified about Baskin's history and her history with respect to her finances and cast doubt on Baskin's credibility as a witness. (Order at 11, Tr. 570-606, R. at \_\_\_\_).<sup>1</sup>

As far as the actual findings of fact, the court's findings were more narrow and generally limited to financial and reporting matters. (Order at 12-15, R. at \_\_\_\_). The court then struck each of Walkup's defenses in turn, finding there was not "any evidence" of undue influence, that the disclosures to Baskin's counsel in 2018 did not "disclose the existence of a potential breach," and

---

<sup>1</sup> As succinctly stated by Webster, Baskin "had issues with anyone who had control over her money." (Tr. at 579:18-19). Webster further rebutted many of the concerns raised by Baskin prior to this action ever being brought. (Ex. 10, Tr. 583:6-11).

that the trustee should be removed because the interest defined by the trust was “the care of Baskin” and “Walkup was required to account with transparency, documentation, and clarity for the benefit of Baskin.” (Order at 16-23, R. at \_\_\_\_). The court went on to create its own definition of what the required accounting or reporting would be, completely divorced from any case law or applicable requirement of the South Carolina Trust Code. (Order at 21, R. at \_\_\_\_). In addition, and in contravention to the language of the Will, the court added its own requirements for disclosure of conflicts of interest. The court further found the prudent investor rule did not apply, notwithstanding the language of the Will.

By orders dated August 31, 2022, the probate court further found Walkup to be in contempt and subject to a \$3,500 sanction and awarded Baskin attorney’s fee as against Walkup, individually, in the amount of \$129,625.80. (Orders, R. at \_\_\_\_). The contempt ruling imposed sanctions and awarded sanctions based on the probate court’s perception that Walkup had violated the terms of the Temporary Settlement Order by filing a lawsuit in Lexington County. The probate court denied Walkup’s fee request in full by order dated September 16, 2022. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_)

By agreement of the parties and consistent with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308(1), appeal was made directly to the appellate courts, rather than the circuit court. Walkup filed two notices of appeal, which have since been consolidated by this Court. The orders on appeal are: (1) the August 23, 2022 order removing Walkup as trustee; (2) the April 28, 2022 order denying Walkup’s request for recusal; (3) the order on the Contempt Motion; (4) the August 31, 2022 order granting attorney’s fees to Baskin; and (5) the September 16, 2022 order denying Walkup’s request for attorney’s fees.

## FACTS

Eldridge Baskin died on September 21, 1990. (Order at 1, R. at \_\_\_\_). Baskin is his only child. (Tr. 28:12-17, R. at \_\_\_\_). She suffers from cerebral palsy and has not worked or been able to drive for many years.<sup>2</sup> (Tr. 30:21-31:1; 720:3-5, R. at \_\_\_\_). To provide for his daughter, Settlor's Will left certain real and personal property to Baskin outright, as follows:

[M]y house and lot located at [] Summerlea Drive, Columbia, South Carolina, all of my interest in two parcels of land containing 5.79 acres and 6.26 acres in Lee County, South Carolina, all of my interest in that certain tract of land containing 21.62 acres in Lee County, South Carolina, and all my personal and household effects of every kind including, but not limited to, furniture, appliances, furnishings, pictures, silverware, china, glass, books, jewelry, wearing apparel, any and all automobiles, and all policies of fire, burglary, property damage, and other insurance on or in connection with the use of this property.

(Ex. 1, R. at \_\_\_\_). The Will also included a trust as follows:

All the rest, residue, and remainder of my property, both real and personal, of which I may die seised and possessed, I give, devise, and bequeath unto my trustee, hereinafter named, in trust, to be held, administered and distributed as hereinafter provided for the sole benefit of my daughter, Jane E. Baskin, **the sole purpose of the trust created hereunder being to provide for the well being of Jane E. Baskin so long as she shall live. This will and the provisions thereof are to be construed in the light of this purpose** and while this shall not have the effect of limiting in any way the power, authority or discretion of the trustee hereunder, **it shall at all times be borne in mind by the trustee when considering the matter of any encroachment upon the principal of the trust created hereunder.**

The trustee shall receive, take and hold the properties and assets of the trust created hereunder and shall invest and reinvest the same, and collect and receive the income therefrom, and, after payment therefrom of all proper costs, charges and expenses, shall dispose of the net income and principal for the benefit of Jane E. Baskin as follows:

---

<sup>2</sup> Her entire work history consisted of two months at a florist and one day at a dog parlor. (Baskin Dep. 66:17-67:7, R. at \_\_\_\_). By Baskin's admission, she had not driven since 1990. (Tr. 720:3-5, R. at \_\_\_\_). By Walkup's account, she stopped driving years later when she could not produce a letter from her doctor certifying that she could drive after a wreck in 2007. (Tr. 344:25-345:10, 611:15-24 (Baskin's physician testifying that he did not receive any correspondence from Walkup relating to Baskin's ability to drive), R. at \_\_\_\_).

(1) **So long as my daughter, Jane E. Baskin, shall live, the trustee shall pay to or apply for the benefit of my said daughter all of the net income of the trust in such manner as my trustee shall deem suitable.**

(2) My trustee may, and shall be authorized and empowered, **in its complete and absolute discretion**, to encroach upon and make disbursements from principal to or for the benefit of Jane E. Baskin, at any time and from time to time, in such amount **as my trustee may deem proper**, for the medical care, comfortable maintenance, and welfare of my said daughter, taking into consideration to the extent my trustee deems advisable, any other income or resources of my said daughter known to my trustee.

*(Id.)* (emphasis added).

The personal representative and trustee was given “absolute discretion” and broad powers with respect to “any property, real or personal, at any time held under any provision of this Will[.]”

*(Id.)*. These broad powers included the ability to self-deal (“In buying and selling assets, in lending and borrowing money, and in all other transactions, irrespective of the occupancy by the same person of dual positions, to deal with itself in its separate, or any fiduciary, capacity.”). *(Id.)*. The enumerated powers conclude with the following directive, “[i]n general, to exercise all powers in the management of my estate or the trust estate which any individual could exercise in his or her own right, **upon such terms and conditions as it may deem best**, and to do all acts which it may deem necessary or proper to carry out the purposes of this will.” *(Id.)* (emphasis added). Walkup was named as personal representative and trustee, and no successor was named. *(Id.)*.

By all accounts, Walkup has been a good investor of trust assets, the principal of which has grown from \$135,000 to over \$500,000. (Order at 13, 22; Def. Ex. 1, R. at \_\_\_\_). In addition, the record is clear that Walkup went to great efforts to ensure that Settlor’s death benefits were paid

in the form of an annuity, which continues to provide income for Baskin's benefit.<sup>3</sup> (Tr. 319:16-320:12, R. at \_\_\_\_).

Under the Temporary Settlement Agreement, Baskin received distributions of \$6,425/month. (Temporary Settlement Agreement, R. at \_\_\_\_). The probate court later increased that amount to \$8,105/month. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). Based on Walkup's calculations, if Baskin continued to spend funds at that rate, the trust would be exhausted within 34 months (Tr. 738:6-14, Order at 22, R. at \_\_\_\_), leaving Baskin with only \$860/month from social security and the annuity. (Order at 5, R. at \_\_\_\_). Baskin had more than 12 years or remaining life expectancy at the time of trial. S.C. Code Ann. § 19-1-150. Neither Baskin nor the probate court offered any guidance on what will happen to Baskin after the trust funds run out. (Tr. 91:20-22, R. at \_\_\_\_). Only Walkup presented a plan that would prevent the lifetime exhaustion of the trust. (Ex. 37, R. at \_\_\_\_). The crux of the dispute stems from Baskin's desire for more funds and greater autonomy versus Walkup's actions taken in hopes that the funds will last until the end of Baskin's life as required by the terms of the Will. (*See* Order at 22, R. at \_\_\_\_).

---

<sup>3</sup> As testified by Walkup,

When [Mr. Baskin's] wife died in December of '89, he had an annuity, survivors annuity, that would give his wife, prior to the time, would give his wife benefits when he died. But whenever she died, he changed that to the maximum benefit with no survivor benefit at all. I discovered that after his death, and I called the Government Employees Association in Columbia and they referred me to Washington, and I dealt with them over about a six-month period of time, and I told them that he had just passed away with cancer and because of his illness, he wasn't thinking clear and he should have had his benefit reduced so that there would be a beneficiary annuity. After six months worth of work, they finally agreed to send that annuity, which I think now is something like \$600 a month. It was less than that at that point. And they agreed to send it to me as the trustee of the trust. Had I not done that, there would've been no annuity at all. (Tr. 319:16-320:12, R. at \_\_\_\_).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Trusts have long and broadly been a field for the jurisdiction of equity.” *Epworth Orphanage v. Long*, 199 S.C. 385, 389, 19 S.E.2d 481, 482 (1942). On appeal from an action in equity, this Court may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976); *Ingram v. Kasey’s Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 290-01 (2000). Thus, this Court can consider the record as a whole and is not bound by the one-sided “Analysis of Testimony” included in the probate court’s order.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The probate court failed to consider the language of the Will as a whole and the applicable law in finding that Walkup should be removed as trustee.**

Eldridge Baskin’s confidence in Walkup has been well-justified. As of the trial in this matter, the principal had increased to roughly \$575,000, and Walkup had a plan for providing for Baskin from the trust for the rest of her expected lifetime. (Def. Ex. 1, Ex. 37, R. at \_\_\_\_).

“The removal of a trustee is within the trial court’s discretion and will not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion.” *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 93-94, 615 S.E.2d 465, 485 (Ct. App. 2005), *overturned on other grounds due to legislative action*. As set forth below, the probate court committed several errors of law constituting an abuse of discretion.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-706(b), a court may remove a trustee if:

- (1) the trustee has committed a serious breach of trust;
- (2) lack of cooperation among cotrustees substantially impairs the administration of the trust;
- (3) because of unfitness, unwillingness, or persistent failure of the trustee to administer the trust effectively, the court determines that removal of the trustee best serves the interests of the beneficiaries; or

- (4) there has been a substantial change of circumstances or removal is requested by all of the qualified beneficiaries, the court finds that removal of the trustee best serves the interests of all of the beneficiaries and is not inconsistent with a material purpose of the trust, and a suitable cotrustee or successor trustee is available.

For purposes of section 1, a “serious breach of trust” is “either: a single act that causes significant harm or involves flagrant misconduct, or a series of smaller breaches, none of which individually justify removal when considered alone, but which do so when considered together.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-103(24). As an initial matter, the probate court did not make any finding of harm. Nor could it, given the performance of the trust. Therefore, there could not have been a “serious breach of trust.”

Section 2 is inapplicable here. With respect to sections 3 and 4, the comments make clear that the “interests of the beneficiaries” are not to be defined by the beneficiaries, but rather “means the beneficial interests as provided in the terms of the trust.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-706 at cmt. “Friction between the trustee and beneficiar[y] is ordinarily not a basis for removal.” *Id.* Friction is built into the trustee-beneficiary relationship because a trustee holds the money that a beneficiary wants; otherwise, a settlor would simply give the money to the beneficiary outright. Nothing in § 62-7-706 allows for removal of a trustee solely because the beneficiary wants the trustee removed or because the beneficiary wishes the terms of the trust were different.

The probate court’s order removes Walkup for the following reasons:

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