RECEIVED

Jul 10 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Probate Court

The Honorable Amy W. McCulloch
Richland County
Trial Court Case No. 2020GC4000072

Appellate Case Nos. 2022-001226 and 2022-001328

Jane E. Baskin.....Respondent,

v.

William B. Walkup.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

s/Richard C. Detwiler

Richard C. Detwiler, SC Bar No. 6473

Harry A. Dixon, SC Bar No. 103509

CALLISON, TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC

P.O. Box 1390

Columbia, SC 29202

Telephone: 803-404-6900

Facsimile: 803-404-6902

Email: RickDetwiler@CallisonTighe.com

HarryDixon@CallisonTighe.com

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
JANE E. BASKIN**

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

The party seeking disqualification must do more than merely allege bias on the judge's behalf; the party must present some evidence of judicial prejudice or bias. *Patel*, 359 S.C. at 524, 599 S.E.2d at 118. When an appellant offers no evidence to support his claim of partiality, the trial judge is correct to deny a motion for recusal. *See Christensen v. Mikell*, 324 S.C. 70, 74, 476 S.E.2d 692, 694 (1996) (“Appellant offered no evidence to support his claim of partiality. Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied the Motion to Recuse.”). Mere conjecture cannot support a recusal motion. *See 46 Am. Jur. 2d Judges § 208* (1994) (“Allegations of facts that are merely frivolous or fanciful will not support a motion to disqualify on the ground of prejudice, nor will conclusory statements, conjecture, or innuendo be sufficient to support a motion for disqualification.”). Finally, “[t]imeliness is essential to any recusal motion,” and “a recusal motion

must be made at counsel's first opportunity after discovery of the disqualifying facts." *Davis v. Parkview Apts.*, 409 S.C. 266, 289, 762 S.E.2d 535, 547 (2014) (rejecting motion to recuse nearly two years after the disclosure to the parties of the potential conflict).

Appellant Walkup filed a Motion for Recusal on November 16, 2021, which he based on (1) the email request from the Probate Court clerk in July 2021 to prepare an order granting Plaintiff temporary attorneys' fees after the Defendant failed for months to respond to the Plaintiff's Petition for fees, and (2) the events at the October 12, 2021, status conference, and the Emergency Hearing that ensued, both of which addressed the parties' Temporary Settlement Agreement of January 6, 2021. Specifically, Appellant Walkup asserts two bases for recusal:

1. On July 27, 2021, the parties received an email from Judge McCulloch's clerk asking Respondent Baskin's counsel to prepare a proposed order granting his Petition for Attorneys' Fees and Costs (Pendente Lite), dated February 12, 2021.
2. At the Emergency Hearing (the genesis of which was left deliberately unclear in the Defendant's Motion for Recusal), "Judge McCulloch stated that she was going to make an award of Plaintiff's attorneys fees against the Defendant."

1. Respondent Baskin's Request for Temporary Fees.

Appellant Walkup's Motion for Recusal was filed nine months after the Respondent's Petition for Temporary Attorneys' Fees was filed. Appellant Walkup filed no response to Respondent's Petition. Four months later, a Probate Court clerk sent an email to counsel asking for a proposed order granting the Petition. Appellant Walkup offered no explanation for his delayed response, reasonable or otherwise. Accordingly, the Motion for Recusal was untimely. *See, e.g., Davis*, 409 S.C. at 289, 762 S.E.2d at 547 ("a recusal motion must be made at counsel's first opportunity after discovery of the disqualifying facts.").

Even if the motion were timely, the Probate Court never granted the Petition for Temporary Fees. Appellant Walkup objected vehemently to the request for a proposed order, filed a lengthy

brief in opposition, argued that the matter was stayed, and that his evidence had not been presented. *As a result, no order granting attorneys' fees was issued at that time.* Thus, the Court's inaction on the petition had the practical effect of sustaining Appellant Walkup's objection to Respondent Baskin's fee petition. Certainly, Appellant Walkup cannot suggest there is evidence of bias or prejudice when the Probate Court effectively sustained Appellant Walkup's objection to Respondent Baskin's fee petition. The record is clear the Probate Court did not grant the petition at that time following Appellant Walkup's objection, and the Probate Court did not grant the petition for fees by Respondent Baskin until after Appellant Walkup put up his case and the trial was completed.

2. Comments allegedly made in Chambers at the Emergency Hearing.

The informal status conference was held as scheduled by zoom. At that conference, Appellant Walkup, through counsel, asserted that the Temporary Settlement Agreement had "expired" and Appellant Walkup was under no further obligations thereunder. This interpretation would have left Respondent Baskin back at the mercy of Appellant Walkup, the circumstances which precipitated this litigation in the first place. The Probate Court considered the matter an emergency and set a hearing for that afternoon.

At the Emergency Hearing, Appellant Walkup, through counsel, restated his position that the parties' settlement agreement, brokered by the Court, was of no further effect and that the Trustee had absolutely no further obligation thereunder. Appellant Walkup also took the position that Mr. Weatherly had "breached" his agreement as Special Trustee, ironically asserting he had not provided accountings to Appellant Walkup since the Agreement became effective. However, the accountings were shown to Appellant Walkup and his counsel at the hearing and were accepted as satisfactory.

During the hearing, Appellant Walkup addressed the Court, indicating that he was unaware that he could be held personally liable for Respondent Baskin's attorneys' fees. Thereafter, the judge asked counsel to her chambers. During a discussion with all counsel in chambers, according to Appellant Walkup, the judge "stated that she was going to make an award of attorneys' fees again [Appellant Walkup]." However, in her Order Denying Motion for Recusal, the judge accurately recited exactly what occurred in chambers:

The parties then met in chambers to allow Mr. Sowell to read the code section about jurisdiction and the Temporary Agreement. A conversation was held in chambers between the Court and all attorneys, where this Court addressed all attorneys about the need to attempt settlement negotiations and the issue of attorneys' fees and costs, *expressing this Court's concern that Respondent did not understand that a potential outcome was that he personally could be responsible for the attorneys' fees and costs of Petitioner.* Respondent's attorneys were told that if the trial proceeds and Respondent is not successful, the Court will award attorneys' fees and costs for the Petitioner and *Respondent may be required to pay all or a portion personally. The issue of the award of attorneys' fees and costs to the Petitioner and whether or not the Trust pays or Respondent pays personally is still an issue to be decided.* The emphasis to Mr. Sowell and Ms. Durant in chambers was to require that they make sure that their client understands the potential going forward, as *Respondent seemed confused in the courtroom.* Any misunderstanding of this statement or its meaning or context can be placed directly on the very contentious nature of the Emergency Hearing.

R. p. 15. No award of attorneys' fees was granted as a result of the Emergency Hearing.

In sum, there is no evidence of prejudice or bias against Appellant Walkup. At trial, the Probate Court allowed Appellant Walkup wide latitude to present evidence regarding issues not even presented in the pleadings. Appellant Walkup had an opportunity to say to the Probate Court, on and off the record, virtually anything that came to his mind. He demanded and was given his day in court. Only after the trial ended did the Court grant the fee petition by Respondent Baskin, and "[t]he fact the [judge] ruled against [Appellant Walkup] is insufficient to show actual prejudice." *See, e.g., Mortg. Elec. Sys., Inc. v. White*, 384 S.C. 606, 616, 682 S.E.2d 498, 503 (Ct. App. 2009).

Accordingly, Appellant Walkup failed to identify evidence of bias or prejudice by the Probate Court, and this Court should affirm the Probate Court's denial of Appellant Walkup's Motion for Recusal.

D. THE PROBATE COURT PROPERLY SANCTIONED WALKUP FOR HIS BREACH OF THE TEMPORARY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

Appellant Walkup acted far beyond his authority and in violation of the Probate Court's orders by suing Respondent Baskin's attorney-in-fact, Michele Moseley, and Mr. Weatherly, then acting Special Trustee, in Lexington County. Accordingly, the Probate Court properly sanctioned this unjustified conduct, and this Court should affirm the Order for Sanctions on appeal.

“The power to punish for contempt is inherent in all courts. Its existence is essential to the preservation of order in judicial proceedings, and to the enforcement of the judgments, orders and writs of the courts, and consequently to the due administration of justice.” *Curlee v. Howle*, 277 S.C. 377, 382, 287 S.E.2d 915, 917 (1982) (citing *McLeod v. Hite*, 272 S.C. 303, 251 S.E.2d 746 (1979)). “Civil contempt occurs when a party willfully disobeys a clear and definite court order.” *Capione v. Best*, 435 S.C. 451, 868 S.E.2d 378 (Ct. App. 2021). In the context of civil contempt, an act is willful if it is done voluntarily and intentionally with the specific intent to do something the law forbids, or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say, with bad purpose either to disobey or disregard the law. *Id.* “Contempt must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, and the record must demonstrate the specific contemptuous act.” *Id.*

The parties entered into the Temporary Settlement Agreement on June 6, 2021, which agreement provided that “**the litigation in this matter is stayed and all issues not decided are held in abeyance**” and that “**William Walkup will remain as Trustee solely to continue to manage the money for investment purposes.**” R. p. 273. The Temporary Settlement Agreement

bears Mr. Walkup's signature. R. p. 274. The Temporary Settlement Agreement is like a consent order, even though it is the product of an agreement by the parties, and carries the authority of the court when entered. *See, e.g., Johnson v. Johnson*, 310 S.C. 44, 46, 425 S.E.2d 46, 48 (Ct. App. 1992) (“[A] consent order is an agreement of the parties, *under the sanction of the court*, and is to be interpreted as an agreement.”) (emphasis added).

The Probate Court issued its “Order Regarding Emergency Hearing,” on October 29, 2021, and its “Order Denying Motion for Recusal,” dated April 28, 2022. Both orders affirmed the Temporary Settlement Agreement. In its Order Regarding Emergency Hearing, the Court held:

SC Code Ann. § 62-7-111 provides that interested persons may enter into binding nonjudicial settlement agreements with respect to directing a trustee to perform or refrain from performing an administrative act, or to grant to a trustee a necessary or desirable administrative power. SC Code Ann. § 62-7-111(b)(2). ***The parties participated in reaching the Temporary Settlement Agreement with the aid of this Court, which approved the Agreement, filed it, and made it a part of the record in this case. See SC Code Ann. § 62-7-111(c). The Temporary Settlement Agreement is precisely the kind of nonjudicial settlement agreement contemplated by § 62-7-111, and, as such, is enforceable by this Court.***

R. p. 5 (emphasis added). In its “Order Denying Motion for Recusal,” the Court held, “[t]he Temporary Settlement Agreement filed on January 6, 2021, and amended on October 29, 2021, *shall remain in place until final judgment.*” R. p. 19 at ¶ B (emphasis added).

On June 13, 2022, Appellant Walkup filed a Motion to Amend his Answer and Counterclaim.⁶ On June 20, 2022, despite the Temporary Settlement Agreement, Appellant Walkup filed a civil lawsuit in Lexington County in his capacity as trustee. Appellant Walkup's complaint in Lexington (“Lexington Complaint”) was based upon allegations nearly identical to those asserted in his proposed Amended Answer and Counterclaim before the Probate Court,

⁶ Respondent Baskin consented to the Motion to Amend, and the “Supplemental and/or Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim” was filed on August 4, 2022.

asserting that Ms. Moseley, Respondent Baskin’s attorney-in-fact, and Mr. Weatherly, the Special Trustee appointed by the Probate Court *with Appellant Walkup’s consent*, conspired to exert undue influence on Respondent Baskin and harm him (Appellant Walkup), in *his capacity as trustee*. *Compare* R. p. 578 (Supplemental and/or Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim) at ¶ 32 (“[Appellant Walkup] pleads that Jane Baskin is being unduly influenced by Michele Moseley and others for the specific purpose of injuring the trust and [Appellant Walkup]. Upon information and belief, Jane Baskin brought the current lawsuit because of the undue influence imposed upon her by Michele Moseley and others for the specific purpose of injuring the trust and [Appellant Walkup].”) *with* R. pp. 540–41 (Appellant Walkup’s Lexington Complaint) at ¶ 9 (“Subsequently, both Weatherly and Moseley began a campaign of undue influence to take advantage of Jane Baskin, who is a vulnerable adult with Cerebral Palsy since birth, and to harass, slander and harm the Plaintiff.”) *and* ¶ 12 (“Defendants Weatherly and Moseley have schemed together and conspired to injure Plaintiff . . .”). Moreover, Appellant Walkup averred in the Lexington Complaint that he was the “Duly Appointed Trustee of Eldridge Baskin Testamentary Trust,” a statement which was, at best, misleading. *See* R. p. 540 at ¶ 4. Appellant Walkup failed to reveal to the Court of Common Pleas that his powers were limited by the Temporary Settlement Agreement and did not include the authority to bring an action in the name of or on behalf of the Trust. Mr. Weatherly was then the duly appointed Special Trustee of that Trust, and Appellant Walkup was to “remain as Trustee solely to continue to manage the money for investment purposes.” R. p. 273, at ¶ 2.

Appellant Walkup asserted in his Lexington Complaint that he was harmed in numerous other ways related to the action before the Probate Court:

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